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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

DISTRICT OF DELAWARE

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, )
)

Plaintiff, )

)

v. ) Case No.:

)

SALLIE MAE, INC., now known as )
NAVIENT SOLUTIONS, INC,, )
SLM DE CORPORATION, now known as )
NAVIENT DE CORPORATION, and )
SALLIE MAE BANK, )
)

Defendants. )

)

COMPLAINT

The United States of America alleges as follows:
INTRODUCTION

1. The United States brings this action against three entities (hereinafter collectively
referred to as “Defendants™) -- Sallie Mae, Inc., now known as Navient Solutions, Inc.
(hereinafter “Navient Solutions, Inc.”), SLM DE Corporation, now known as Navient DE
Corporation (hereinafter “Navient DE Corporation”), and Defendant Sallie Mae Bank -- for
violating the rights of approximately 60,000 servicemembers protected by the Servicemembers
Civil Relief Act (hereinafter “SCRA™), 50 U.S.C. App. §§ 501-597b. This action to enforce the
SCRA is brought to redress the SCRA violations that Defendants engaged in from November 28,
2005 through the time of the filing of this Complaint.

2. The United States alleges two types of SCRA violations: (1) Defendants failed to

provide servicemembers the 6% interest rate to which they were entitled under the SCRA; and
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(2) some of the Defendants obtained default judgments against servicemembers without
complying with the procedures set out by the SCRA.

3. The SCRA violations in this case involve four types of student loans (hereinafter
collectively “Covered Loans™): (1) private education loans (hereinafter “Private Loans”); (2)
Direct Department of Education Student Loans (hereinafter “Direct ED Loans”); (3) student
loans originated under the Federal Family Education Loan Program (hereinafter “FFELP”)
owned by the Department of Education (hereinafter “FFELP ED Loans”); and (4) student loans

originated under the FFELP not owned by the Department of Education (hereinafter “FFELP

COM Loans™).
NATURE OF ACTION
4, This action is brought by the United States to enforce the provisions of the

Servicemembers Civil Relief Act (hereinafter “SCRA”), 50 U.S.C. App. §§ 501-597b.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

5. This Court has jurisdiction over this action under 28 U.S.C. § 1331, 28 U.S.C.
§ 1345, and 50 U.S.C. App. § 597(a).

6. Venue is proper in this judicial district under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and (c)(2)
because Defendants Navient Solutions, Inc. and Navient DE Corporation are Delaware
corporations that conduct business in Delaware, and because Defendant Sallie Mae Bank
provides, funds, and owns student loans taken out by borrowers who reside in Delaware.

DEFENDANTS

7. Defendant Navient Solutions, Inc. is a Delaware corporation that services

Covered Loans owned by Navient Corporation and/or its subsidiaries, as well as Covered Loans

owned by other entities, including Defendant Sallie Mae Bank.
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8. Defendant Navient DE Corporation is a Delaware corporation that performs
delinquency collections for Covered Loans owned by SLM Corporation and its subsidiaries, as
well as Covered Loans owned by other entities.

9. Defendant Sallie Mae Bank is a Utah state-chartered industrial bank that provides,
funds, and owns education loans nationwide. Defendant Sallie Mae Bank’s portfolio includes
Private Loans and FFELP COM Loans, including Private Loans and FFELP COM Loans taken
out by borrowers who reside in Delaware.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

10. Defendants Navient Solutions, Inc. and Navient DE Corporation have been
responsible for granting interest rate reductions upon receipt of notice and military orders from
servicemembers protected by the SCRA (hereinafter “SCRA-protected servicemembers”) with
Private Loans since at least November 28, 2005, and from SCRA-protected servicemembers with
Direct ED Loans, FFELP ED Loans, and/or FFELP COM Loans since August 14, 2008.

11. From at least November 28, 2005, Defendants Navient Solutions, Inc. and
Navient DE Corporation have been responsible for obtaining default judgments against SCRA-
protected servicemembers with Private Loans.

12. Defendant Sallie Mae Bank contracted with Defendants Navient Solutions, Inc.
and Navient DE Corporation to provide services involving all Private Loans owned by Sallie
Mae Bank since at least November 28, 2005, and services involving all FFELP Com Loans
owned by Sallie Mae Bank since August 14, 2008. These services have included, but have not
been limited to, granting interest rate reductions upon receipt of notice and military orders from
SCRA -protected servicemembers.

13.  An independent consultant conducted an audit of the Defendants that identified

active duty servicemembers who, between November 28, 2005, and December 31, 2013, (1) had

3
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pre-service student loans serviced or owned by Defendants with interest rates over 6% and (2)
were given a military identification code in Defendants’ computer systems. That audit revealed
that only about 7% of those active duty servicemembers received the full 6% interest rate cap to
which they were entitled under the SCRA. The other 93% of these servicemembers continued to
be charged interest at a rate over 6%, despite the fact that the majority of them, in addition to
having a military identification code in Defendants’ computer systems, also submitted to the
Defendants one or more military documents and/or a separate notice of SCRA eligibility.

14.  Of'the servicemembers who had pre-service loans with interest rates above 6%
and had military codes in Defendants’ computer systems and did not receive the full 6% benefit,
about 80% had Private Loans or FFELP COM Loans, 8% had Direct ED Loans or FFELP ED
Loans, and 12% had more than one type of loan. Over 40% of these servicemembers who did
not receive the full 6% benefit were charged at least $166 above the 6% interest rate cap, with
about 23% being charged over $500 in excess interest charges.

15. The independent consultant retained to conduct an audit of Defendants found that,
between January 1, 2008, and December 31, 2012, Navient Solutions, Inc. and Navient DE
Corporation obtained default judgments against at least five SCRA-protected borrowers without
filing affidavits of military service and showing necessary facts to support the affidavits, as
required by 50 U.S.C. App. § 521.

SERVICEMEMBER CIVIL RELIEF ACT VIOLATIONS

16. Defendants Navient Solutions, Inc. and Navient DE Corporation violated Section
527 of the SCRA, 50 U.S.C. App. § 527, when, from at least November 28, 2005, with respect to
Private Loans, and from August 14, 2008, with respect to Direct ED Loans, FFELP ED Loans,

and FFELP COM Loans, they engaged in a pattern or practice of:



Case 1:99-mc-09999 Document 472 Filed 05/13/14 Page 5 of 9 PagelD #: 33176

a. failing to lower interest rates to 6% per year after receiving written notice
and qualifying active duty military orders from SCRA-protected
servicemembers;

b. failing to make acceptable efforts to obtain qualifying active duty military
documents from servicemembers who requested benefits, but did not
provide qualifying military documents; and

c. failing to notify servicemembers that they might be eligible for SCRA
benefits when they provided their military documents to Defendants for
purposes other than seeking the 6% interest rate.

17.  Defendants Navient Solutions, Inc. and Navient DE Corporation engaged in a
pattern or practice of violating Section 521 of the SCRA, 50 U.S.C. App. § 521, or engaged in
violations of Section 521 of the SCRA, 50 U.S.C. App. § 521 that raise an issue of significant
public importance, when, from at least November 28, 2005, they obtained default judgments
against SCRA-protected borrowers with Private Loans without filing affidavits of military
service and showing necessary facts to support the affidavits.

18.  Defendant Sallie Mae Bank violated Section 527 of the SCRA, 50 U.S.C. App. §
527, when, from at least November 28, 2005, for Private Loans, and August 14, 2008, for FFELP
COM Loans, it allowed student loan servicers with which it contracted to engage in a pattern or
practice of:

a. failing to lower interest rates to 6% per year after receiving written notice
and qualifying active duty military orders from SCRA-protected

servicemembers;
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b. failing to make acceptable efforts to obtain qualifying active duty military
documents from servicemembers who requested benefits, but did not
provide qualifying military documents; and

c. failing to notify servicemembers that they might be eligible for SCRA
benefits when they provided their military documents to Defendants for
purposes other than seeking the 6% interest rate.

19. The servicemembers who were charged interest in excess of 6% per year in violation
of Section 527 of the SCRA, 50 U.S.C. App. § 527, are aggrieved persons and have suffered
damages as a result of Defendants’ conduct.

20. The servicemembers against whom Defendants Navient Solutions, Inc. and Navient
DE Corporation obtained improper default judgments in violation of Section 521 of the SCRA, 50
U.S.C. App. § 521, are aggrieved persons and have suffered damages as a result of Defendant
Navient Solutions, Inc. and Navient DE Corporation’s conduct.

21.  Defendants’ conduct was intentional, willful, and taken in disregard for the rights
of servicemembers.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, the United States prays that the Court enter an ORDER:

1. Declaring that Defendants’ conduct violated the SCRA;

2. Enjoining Defendants, their officers, employees, agents, representatives, assigns,
successors-in-interest, and all other persons and entities in active concert or participation with
them from:

a. charging interest at a rate in excess of 6% per year on
the then-outstanding balance (including any previously capitalized
interest) of any Covered Loan(s) taken out while a borrower was not on

6
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military service, where the borrower subsequently enters into military
service, and where the borrower is eligible for benefits under Section 527
of the SCRA, 50 U.S.C. app. § 527;

b. misinforming any servicemember about the SCRA protections and
benefits available under Section 527 of the SCRA, 50 U.S.C. app. § 527,
or otherwise discouraging any servicemember from invoking SCRA
protection pursuant to Section 527 of the SCRA, 50 U.S.C. app. § 527, on
any Covered Loan(s) taken out while not on military service;

G failing to provide information about the SCRA benefits available under
Section 527 of the SCRA, 50 U.S.C. app. § 527, to any servicemember
who inquires about receiving a military deferment or military forbearance;

d. seeking any default judgment with respect to any Private Loan without
first checking their files, including all customer service notes and the
Department of Defense Manpower Data Center database (“DMDC”), to
determine whether an individual against whom Defendants intend to seek
a default judgment is in military service, and, if so, filing an accurate
affidavit of military service, attaching to the affidavit the most recent
military status report from the DMDC and a copy of the SCRA-protected
servicemember’s military orders, if available;

€. failing or refusing to take such affirmative steps as may be necessary to
restore, as nearly as practicable, each identifiable victim of Defendants'
illegal conduct to the position he or she would have been in but for that

illegal conduct; and
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f. failing or refusing to take such affirmative steps as may be necessary to
prevent the recurrence of any illegal conduct in the future and to eliminate,
to the extent practicable, the effects of Defendants’ illegal conduct;

3. Awarding appropriate monetary damages to each identifiable victim of
Defendants’ violations of the SCRA; and
4, Assessing civil penalties against Defendants in order to vindicate the public

interest pursuant to 50 U.S.C. App. § 597(b)(3).
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The United States further prays for such additional relief as the interests of justice may

require.

CHARLES M. OBERLY, 11 (#743)
United States Attorney

District of Delaware

1007 N. Orange Street, Suite 700
Wilmington, DE 19801

Tel.: (302) 573-6277

ERIC H. HOLDER, JR.
Attorney General

[s/ Jocelyn Samuels
JOCELYN SAMUELS

Acting Assistant Attorney General
Civil Rights Division

/s/ Steven Rosenbaum

STEVEN H. ROSENBAUM

Chief

Housing and Civil Enforcement Section
Civil Rights Division

/s/ Elizabeth A. Singer
ELIZABETH A. SINGER

Director, U.S. Attorneys’ Fair Housing
Program

/s/ Tanya llona Kirwan

TANYA ILONA KIRWAN, MD Bar
Trial Attorney

U.S. Department of Justice

Civil Rights Division

Housing and Civil Enforcement Section
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.
Northwestern Building, 7th Floor
Washington, D.C. 20530

Tel: (202) 514-4713

Fax: (202) 514-1116

E-mail: Tanya.Kirwan@usdoj.gov




Case 1:99-mc-09999 Document 472-1 Filed 05/13/14 Page 1 of 1 PagelD #: 33181

JS 44 {Rev 12/12)

CIVIL COVER SHEET

The JS 44 cvil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor supﬂcmcnt the filing und service of pleadings or other papers us required by law, exceptas

provided by local rutes of court, Thus lorm, approved by the Judicul Conference of the
purpose of initating the eivit docket sheet

nited States in September 1974, is required for the use ol the Clerk of Court for the

(SEE INSTRUCTIONS ON NEXT PAGE OF THIS FORM )

1. (a) PLAINTIFFS

United States of America

{b) County of Restdence of Fiest Listed Plainuil’

(ENCEPTIN U S, PLAUNTHE CASES) (N US PLAINTIFE CASES €

DEFENDANTS
Sallic Mae, Inc., now known as Navient Solutions, Inc., SLM DE
Corporation, now known as Navient DE Corporation, and Sallic Mae Bank

County of Residence of First Listed Defendant_New Castle County

NOIE  IN LAND CONDEMNATION CASES, USE THE LOCATION OF
THE TRACT OF LAND INVOLVED.

( €} Anomeys (Firm Name, dddress, and Telephone Numberj Attorneys (If Knownl

For Defentunts Sallie Mar Tne., ow kinown as Navient Selutions, Ine , and SLM DE Cerporstion, now known es

For Plaintiff United States of Ameriva: Blizabeth A Smger, Director, 11§ Atiumeys’ Fuir Housing Program and Tanya | Navient DE Comoration: Kuk 1. Jensen, JeiTrey P. Naimon, 2nd Sushut Leonhardt, Buckley Sandler 1LLP, 1250 24th

Nong Kerwan, MQ Bur, Trisi Attorey, U.S. Department ot Justice, Civil Rights Division, Housing and Civil Street, NAV, Sute 706, Washington, D.C, 20037, Tel.: 202-349-8000. For Defendant Satlie Moe Dank: Margaret
Enfu;:tmcnl Section, 950 Penmsylvaria Avemie, N W — NWRH_ 7th Floor, Washington, D € 20430, Tet E. Tahysr, Davis Polk & Wardwell LLP, 450 Lexington Avenue, New York, NY 10017, Tel. 212-450-4379
202-514-4713
11. BASIS OF JURISDICTION (Pluce an "X i One Box Only) 111, CITIZENSHIP OF PRINCIPAL PARTI ES (Place an “X" in One Bux for Plantiff
(F-ar Diversity Cases Onlv) and Une Box for Defenitany)
X 1 US. Government O3  Federl Question IF  DEF PTE DEF
Plaintiff (U).S. Govermnent Not a Party) Ciuzen of This State Ot O 1 incorporsted or Principol Place 04 0OA

of Business In This Stme

02 US Government 04 Diversity Citizen of’ Another State 02 0 2 Incopernted and Principal Place 0s 05
Defendant (Indhcare Cutizenshup of Parues i Htem 1) of Busmess In Another State
Gitvzen-or-Subjeot of & a3 T 3 Forcwgn Nation a6 36
Forewgn Country
IV. NATURE OF SUIT @tuce an X" inn One Bux Onhy)
|[= CONTRACT TORTS FORFEITUREPENALTY BANKRUPICY. OTHER STATUTES }
3 110 Insurance PERSONAL INJURY PERSONAL INJURY  |(D 625 Drug Relnted Seizure ™ 122 Appent 28 USC 158 D 375 Falst Claims Act
O 120 Manae 3 310 Awplane 0 365 Personal Ingury - of Property 21 USC 881 | 423 Withdrawal 3 400 State Renppornonment
3130 Miller Act £ 315 Auwplane Product Product Liability 3 690 Other 28 USC 157 7 410 Antitrust
€3 140 Negouable Instument Liabilty 7 367 Health Care/ {3 430 Banks and Banking
1 150 Recovery of Overpayment | €1 120 Assault, Libel & Pharmaccutical PROPERTY RIGHTS 0 450 Commerce
& Unfarcement of Judgment Slander Personal injury {3 520 Copynglus 0 460 Deponation
3 151 Medicne Act 7 330 Federal Eniployers' Product Liability 3 830 Patent 3 470 Racketeer Influenced and
1 152 Recovery of Defanlted Liabnhiy {3 368 Asbestos Versonal 3 840 Trademark Cormupt Orgamzattons
Student Lonns J 340 Manne Injury Product (3 480 Consumer Credn
(Excludes Veterans) 7 345 Manne Product Linbily LABOR W 3 490 Cuble/Sat TV
153 Recovery of Overpayment T sability PERSONAL PROPERTY |03 710 Fuir Labor Standards £ 861 HIA (134511 3 850 Secunties/Commoditics’
af Veteran's Benelits {9 350 Motor Velucle €3 370 Other Fraud Act 7 862 Black Lung (923) Exchimge
) 160 Stockholders' Suits €1 355 Motur Vehuele {3 37! Truth i Lending O 720 LaboriManagement O 863 DIWC/DIWW (405(p)) | T 890 Other Seatutory Actions
) 190 Other Contract Produet Liability £ 380 Other Personal Relanons 0 864 SSID Title XVI {3 89} Agnculturnl Acts
7 195 Comtract Product Liatiliny {3 360 Other Personud Propesty Dumaye £ 740 Raihway Labor Act 0 865 RST(403(g)) 1 893 Environmental Matters
O 196 Franchise Injury O 385 Property Damage 0 751 Famly and Medical O 89S Freedom of [nformation
0 362 Personal Ly - Product Liability Leave Act Act
Medical Malprachice 1 790 Other Labor Litigauon ) 896 Arbitration
| REAL PROPERTY CIVIL.RICUTS PRISONER PETITIONS _[C) 791 Employee Retirement FEDERAL TAX SUITS T 899 Adinmistrative Procedure
2 210 Landd Condemnation 440 Other Civad Rughus Habeas Corpus: {ncome Securnty Act 7 870 Taxes (ULS Plainuff AcUReview or Appeal of
73 220 Fareciosure O 441 Voting 1 403 Alien Detanee or Defendanty Agency Decision
3 230 Rent Lease & Ejectment 3 442 Employmem 7 510 Mouons to Vacate O 871 IRS—Third Party 1 950 Constitutionnluty of
“3 210 Torts to Land 7 443 Housing/ Sentence 26 LISC 7609 State Statutes
3245 Tort Product Liabiliry Accotmmodauons 73 530 General
3290 Ali Other Real Property 3 445 Amer. w/Disabihities -1 T 535 Death Penalty IMAMIGRATION
Employment Other: £ 462 Natwrahzauon Applhcation
{3 146 Amer. w/Disabihues < | 540 Mandamus & Other |3 465 Other Immigration
Other £ 550 Civak Raglits Actions
£ 448 Education 0 555 Puson Condition
3 560 Crvil Denaines -
Condinons of
Confinement
V. ORIGIN ¢Place an "X m One Box Only)
X1 Origmal i3 2 Removed from 3 3 Remanded from 3 4 Reinstated or 3 5 Transierred from 3 6 Muludistrict
Proceeding State Count Appellate Coun Reopened Another District L.itigation

fpeaifvl

V1. CAUSE OF ACTION

Cue the U S Civit Statute under which you are filing (Do nof cire jurisdictional statutes unless diversity)
50 U.S.C. App. §§ 501-397)

Brief description ol cause . . )
Failure to confer upon servicemembers protections and benefits provided by the Servicemembers Civil Relief Act

VII. REQUESTED IN
COMPLAINT;

3 CHECK IF THIS IS A CLASS ACTION DEMAND S CHECK YES only 1f demanded in complaint
UNDERRULE23, FRCVE JURY DEMAND; 7 Yes  XNo

VHIL. RELATED CASE(S)

1F ANY

(Nee wistructionsj

JUDGE PDOCKET NUMBER

DATE
0571322014

VGNATURE OF ATTORNEY OF REFORD

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY

PN P F)yﬂ.f 9/ oA Cvcon

RECEIPT # AMOUNT

S

APPLYING IFP JUDGE MAG JUDGE




